
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 25 April 2022.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Finance, Economic 
Development and 
Corporate Services 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

     
 

 

Tuesday, 3 May 2022 at 10.30 am 
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House,  

St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Graham Jeal (Chairman) 
Councillor Gloria Johnson (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor John Dawson, Councillor Phil Dilks, Councillor Richard Dixon-Warren, 
Councillor Ben Green, Councillor Philip Knowles, Councillor Charmaine Morgan, 
Councillor Susan Sandall  
 

Agenda 
 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later 
date, via the SKDC YouTube Channel 

 

 

1.   Comments from members of the public 
 

To receive comments or views from members of the public at the Committee’s discretion. 
 

 

2.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

3.   Disclosure of interests 
 

 

4.   Action notes from Joint Scrutiny - Deepings Leisure Centre held on 
30 November 2021 
 

(Pages 3 - 18) 

5.   Action notes of the meeting held on 22 February 2022 
 

(Pages 19 - 28) 

6.   Updates from previous meeting 
 

There were none.  
 

 

7.   Grantham Future High Street Fund 
 

The report provides a programme overview and update on the progress of the 
Future High Streets Fund projects in Grantham following the award of £5.56 
million by the government to deliver the programme in April 2021. 
 
 
 

(Pages 29 - 61) 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.youtube.com/user/SouthKestevenDC


 

8.   Local Authority Search Figures 
 

To provide the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with an update regarding 
Local Land Charges performance. 
 

(Pages 63 - 65) 

9.   Work Programme 2021 – 2022 
 

To consider the Committee’s Work Programme for 2021 – 2022. 
 

(Pages 67 - 69) 

10.   Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstance decides is urgent 
 

 



 

 

Minutes  
 

Joint Scrutiny  
 

Tuesday, 30 November 2021 
 

Council Chamber - South Kesteven 
House, St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 

 

 

Joint Scrutiny Members present 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
Councillor John Dawson 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Paul Fellows 
Councillor Graham Jeal 
Councillor Philip Knowles 
Councillor Nikki Manterfield 
Councillor Penny Robins 
Councillor Judy Stevens 
Councillor Jill Thomas 
Councillor Mark Whittington 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley 
Councillor Hilary Westropp 
 

Other Members in attendance 
Councillor Gloria Johnson 
Councillor Breda – Rae Griffin  
Councillor Sue Woolley 
Councillor Jacky Smith 
 

Cabinet Members in attendance 
Councillor Kelham Cooke (Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Adam Stokes (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor Barry Dobson (Cabinet Member for Leisure) 
Councillor Robert Reid (Cabinet Member for Housing and Property) 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope – Bellew (Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy) 
 
Officers in attendance 
Karen Bradford (Chief Executive) 
Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer) 
Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property) 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture) 
Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer) 
Karen Whitfield (Head of Arts and Leisure) 
Amy Pryde (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

3

Agenda Item 4



 

1. Apologies for absence 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Amanda Wheeler, Councillor 
David Bellamy, Councillor Susan Sandall and Councillor Judy Smith.  

 
Councillor Ashley Baxter had been appointed as Substitute for Councillor Amanda 
Wheeler.  

 
Councillor Hilary Westropp had been appointed as Substitute for Councillor David 
Bellamy.  

 
Councillor Helen Crawford had been appointed as Substitute for Councillor Judy 
Smith.  

 
Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley had been appointed as Substitute for Councillor Susan 
Sandall. 

 
2. Declarations of interest 

 
Councillor Ashley Baxter declared that he had been a user of the Deepings Leisure 
Centre and his family continue to be members of the Deepings Swimming Club. 

 
Councillor Phil Dilks highlighted that the Deepings Leisure Centre was in the 
Council ward where he lived. He declared that he was a Parish Councillor that had 
an interest in the Leisure Centre and that he had been elected as a County 
Councillor for The Deepings East Division. Councillor Dilks also held a family 
membership at the Deepings Leisure Centre when it was open and had been an 
occasional user of the Centre for over 40 years.  

 
Further to a question, the Leader of the Council declared that the Conservative 
Group had not been ‘whipped’ in relation to this item. 

 
The Deputy Group Leader for the Independent Group declared that the Independent 
Group had also not been ‘whipped’.   

 
3. Public Speaking 

 
Eileen Gray 

 
Eileen Gray made the following statement: 
 
“I am a resident of Market Deeping and long-term user of the Deepings Leisure 
Centre for over forty years.  In July when the Leisure Centre was closed, forty years 
of my life was taken away from me.  I have used the Centre as a member of staff, a 
teacher, a member and instructor of the life-saving club and many other avenues.  I 
am heartbroken that this has happened.  I swam for an hour a day and now have to 
go to Spalding to continue this.  People using this facility include an amputee, an 

4



octogenarian, a lady in remission of cancer and a carer receiving one hour respite 
from caring.  Why are these people being denied these facilities.  Perhaps you can 
tell me?” 

 
Jack Little 

 
Jack Little made the following statement: 

 

“I am a resident of Deeping St James and have been for the last decade and I have 
enjoyed the facilities throughout that time.  Sadly since 2013 there has been no 
dialogue and virtually zero action regarding a replacement Leisure Centre.  I am 
pleased that today there are positive options on the table and I would implore 
Councillors to select option 3 as the best investment for the future – the next 25 
years.  Option 2 may seem like a nice option, costing less, however, we know that 
in 20 years’ time there will need to be a plan in place for a new Leisure Centre.  I 
have spent a lifetime in sport since the age of seven and until now as a coach, 
participant, competitor and member of various club committees.  It is really 
important that this facility is made available again as soon as humanly possible.  I 
see that target dates have been set, which is good.  I am also very pleased to see 
that the project application with the football foundation is also contained within the 
papers, which is direly required.  Local team players are leaving for other training 
facilities with floodlights.  I also note that a core part of the proposals is dependent 
on an agreed lease of land by schools and I do hope this is taken incredibly 
seriously as agreement is vital for success.” 

  
Peter Gray 

 
Peter Gray made the following statement: 

 

“All of the three options that have been thrown into the arena are a distraction from 
what is going on.  It tends to divide and conquer people as you get different views 
coming through.  Initially I thought that the Leisure Centre should get repaired 
because it is needed now.  In hindsight, I thought that maybe I was being selfish.  I 
am in my 75th year and use the Leisure Centre four times a week for swimming.  
However, this doesn’t affect just me, there are kids within the swimming club that 
start to blossom and have a three year window to access the best training possible 
to make the most of their opportunities.  I am concerned also about the lack of 
disclosure from involved private companies.  This is a serious issue.” 

 
Robbie Tyler 

 
Robbie Tyler made the following statement: 

 
“I’ve been in The Deepings all my life, I am a martial arts trainer and fitness 
instructor so am heavily involved in the leisure industry.  The closure of the 
Deepings Leisure Centre has impacted our club massively.  We train two to three 
classes a night, Monday to Friday.  We have gradings, seminars and other things 
going on.  We have been able to find a small space to continue classes but not to 
the same level as before.  We have had students get to world championship level 

5



and those opportunities will start dropping back if we don’t get facilities soon.  We 
are not the only club affected, some have had to move areas and some clubs have 
been lost.  The quicker these facilities can return, the better.” 

 
4. Deepings Leisure Centre 

 
The Joint Scrutiny Committee considered a comprehensive report which provided 
Members with the background relating to The Deepings Leisure Centre and options 
available relating to the provision of a Leisure Centre in The Deepings. 

 
In presenting the report, Councillor Barry Dobson, Cabinet Member for Leisure, 
made the following points: 

 

•   Investing in high quality leisure facilities across the District was a key part of the 
Council’s corporate ambition and a vital part of achieving this was good quality 
facilities which were sustainable and met customer expectations. 

•   He had been the Portfolio Holder for Leisure since January last year and was 
personally committed to delivering on the ambitious leisure improvement plans 
which this Council had previously announced. As part of this, the Deepings area 
was prioritised for investment due to the age and condition of the existing Leisure 
Centre. 

•   Over the course of the last two years, a significant amount of work had been 
undertaken to identify the feasibility of providing a New Leisure Centre for the 
Deepings area. The report documented the Council’s journey in this respect and 
provided information on each of the schemes considered, together with the resulting 
impact on the Council’s General Fund revenue budgets. 

•   Whilst a new build for the Deepings area was once considered affordable, this was 
sadly no longer the case. 

•   The Council finds itself in extremely challenging financial times. Whilst some of this 
was a direct result of reduced funding from Central Government, the impact of 
Covid-19 on the Council’s finances could not be under-estimated. This has resulted 
in a significant reduction in the Council’s income, and its reserves have been put 
under pressure as it had supported local residents, businesses and staff. The 
Council had to align its diminished resources for the benefit of all residents across 
the District.  That being said, due to the temporary closure of the existing Leisure 
Centre, the Deepings area was currently without any leisure provision. 

•   Since the meeting of Full Council on 2 September a full range of building and land 
surveys had taken place on the existing facility, and experts had been 
commissioned to bring forward options for refurbishment and the associated 
business plans. Four options had been identified, one of which included a full 
remodel and refurbishment of the existing centre which would meet the evidenced 
need, whilst providing residents of the Deepings with a facility which had the look 
and feel of a new centre. 

•   As a refurbishment of this magnitude and cost would still be a significant 
undertaking for the Council, any investment approved would require the Council to 
review its spending priorities to account for the cost of borrowing. No investment 
would be possible, however, without the Council gaining a legal interest in the 

6



existing building. Although there had been good progress, there was still work to do 
in this regard. 

 
The Cabinet Member for Leisure introduced David Rushton from Sports and Leisure 
Consultancy (SLC), who provided details of the work SLC had been undertaking 
with the Council. The work included the formation of LeisureSK Ltd, a Council 
owned company to manage the Council’s Leisure provision, after the contract had 
ceased with the previous provider, OneLife. 

 
Paul Weston of Paul Weston Architects introduced himself to Members and 
provided details of the experience of his company, which included feasibility studies 
working alongside SLC. Options costs that had been prepared were prudent, taking 
into account a timescale and how inflation could have an impact through the project.  

 
The report set out that the Deepings Leisure Centre had been temporarily closed 
since July 2021, due to significant health and safety concerns.  An extraordinary 
meeting of Full Council was held on 2 September 2021 where it was agreed that a 
joint meeting of the Finance, Economic Development & Corporate Services and 
Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committees would be held to 
consider the future of the Deepings Leisure Centre and make recommendations on 
the preferred options to Cabinet on 7 December 2021. A final decision would be 
taken at a further extraordinary meeting of Full Council, scheduled for 14 December 
2021.  

 
The South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) Corporate Plan (2020-2023) 
recognised the role facilities played to inspire residents to take part in sport and 
physical activity. The Council had four Leisure Centres within its portfolio, which 
helped contribute towards the promotion of Healthy and Stronger Communities.  

 
The Deepings Leisure Centre was built and opened in 1974, since that time it had 
been managed by SKDC, the land and the building were owned by Lincolnshire 
County Council (LCC). There had never been any formal leasehold arrangements in 
place between SKDC and LCC, which meant the responsibilities of each 
organisation had not been documented. The facilities were shared with the 
Deepings School (part of the Anthem Trust), who had use of the sports hall, playing 
fields and swimming pool during term time, with the fee paid for that use equating to 
£35,600 for 2021/22.   

 
In 2014 LCC withdrew its maintenance contribution of £124,000 and notified the 
Council that the land and buildings would be transferred to the Anthem Trust, as 
part of the Academy’s transfer process. Subsequently the Council was advised that 
it was necessary to secure a leasehold interest directly with the Anthem Trust. To 
date the transfer had not been completed and was currently in progress.  
Unfortunately, despite numerous attempts to agree terms, a lease between the 
Anthem Trust and the Council was not in place. This had meant that since 2014 the 
Council had been solely responsible for the maintenance and repair of the Deepings 
Leisure Centre.   

 

7



Previous feasibility work had been undertaken, which was reported to Members in 
2013. Consultants were engaged to identify schemes of refurbishment, should a 
lease be secured. There had been an anticipation that, without investments, the 
existing Leisure Centre would close in 2016.  

 
In 2018 Mace Ltd had been commissioned on behalf of InvestSK Ltd (a Council 
owned company) and undertook an initial assessment of all four of the Leisure 
Centres within the Council’s Portfolio. On 7 March 2019, Cabinet received a report 
titled ‘Enhancing Leisure Opportunities for Everyone’.  The report included the 
results of the feasibility work and a range of options for the development and 
refurbishment of the facilities within the portfolio.  

 
In May 2020, to ensure that a robust structure was in place for the decisions around 
the facilities, a project team was formed. This team included: 
the Chief Executive, Strategic Director for Growth, Section 151 Officer, Director of 
Law and Governance and Head of Leisure. Additionally, a Leisure Improvement 
Board was formed comprising key Cabinet Members; The Leader, Cabinet Member 
for Leisure, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources and Cabinet Member for 
Culture and Visitor Economy.   

 
Members received a briefing on 20 October 2020, which provided an update on the 
improvement plans and feasibility work undertaken for the leisure portfolio. The 
briefing also included the scale of work involved and the challenges the Council 
faced in terms of affordability. The Leisure Improvement Board advised Members 
that improvement schemes would need to be prioritised, with the Deepings Leisure 
Centre being the key priority.  

 
In May 2020, the Council commissioned Paul Weston Architect to provide a check 
and challenge to the original feasibility work undertaken by Mace Ltd and to explore 
alternatives.  

 
Supported by SLC, an assessment was undertaken of the local and latent demand 
for a new facility within the Deepings, to assist with the development of any 
business plans. In September 2019 a location had been identified for a replacement 
facility at Linchfield Road Playing Field in Deeping St. James.  

 
The Council undertook work with Sport England, using their Facility Planning Model. 
Taking all information into account, Paul Weston prepared two schemes and a site 
masterplan, which included required facilities, financial planning and a business 
plan.  

 
In late 2020 an opportunity arose to explore an alternative site for a new Deepings 
Leisure Centre, a prominent position within the Northfield Industrial Estate in Market 
Deeping, where the Landis & Gyr building was situated. A feasibility study of the site 
was undertaken, which was compared against the Lichfield Road scheme. The 
study found the building was a good standard, however a number of issues would 
have to be addressed. Members were provided with details of a comparison 
between the two sites which was set out in paragraph 1.47 of the report.  

8



 
During the feasibility work being undertaken, the Council had been advised that 
there may be insufficient demand for a large-scale facility. SLC were therefore 
commissioned to produce a business plan for a smaller scale facility, considering 
local demand.  

 
On 29 July 2021 the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader of the Council 
and the Cabinet Member for Leisure, using emergency powers within the Council’s 
Constitution at Article 16, closed the Deepings Leisure Centre due to significant 
health and safety concerns. 

 
LCC, as the current owner of the building, carried out an initial condition survey. The 
survey identified that approximately £1.2 million of work would be required to rectify 
some of the identified issues.   

 
Given the previous work around the Leisure Centre, Paul Weston and Caston Cost 
Consultants were commissioned to provide an opinion on LCC’s findings and 
consideration on how to extend the life of the building for a further 25 years. These 
findings were reported to Members at the extraordinary meeting of Full Council, 
held on 2 September 2021.   

 
The closure of the Deepings Leisure Centre had impacted the operation of the 
Deepings School and the delivery of their curriculum. Customers who had used the 
facility had been encouraged to use one of the three other Leisure Centres within 
the District.  

 
Members were provided with details of refurbishment options and anticipated 
timelines, ranging from a basic refurbishment of the existing building to a full 
remodelling and refurbishment. 

 
The Football Foundation had identified the Deepings areas as an area of priority for 
the development of a 3G pitch. Previous discussion had taken place with the 
Football Foundation regarding the opportunity to apply for grant funding to develop 
the pitch on the Linchfield Road Playing Fields. It would be proposed to replace the 
old astroturf pitch with an allocated budget of £700,000, £200,000 of which would 
be funded by the Council, to allow for the match funding required of any application. 
It had been confirmed that the Football Foundation would welcome an application in 
either April or July 2022.  

 
Following the extraordinary meeting of Full Council on 2 September 2021, the 
Leader of LCC had offered to transfer the freehold of the Deepings Leisure Centre 
to the Council for £1. The Council had been keen to explore that possibility, 
however it was proven to not be possible under the provision of the Academies Act. 
A lease between the Anthem Trust and the Council would still require the 
permission of the Department for Education and should it be approved a Service 
Level Agreement would be required.  

 

9



On 14 October 2021 Members were provided with a briefing session which 
presented details of the feasibility work that had been undertaken. Members had 
also been invited to tour the OneNK Centre in North Hykeham, which had 
previously been refurbished. The OneNK Centre was a similar build and age as the 
Deepings Leisure Centre and Paul Weston had been the lead Architect on that 
project.  

 
As this stage of proceedings, commencing debate on the content of the report, the 
Chairman invited questions on sections (a), (b) and (c) on the agenda. 

 
The Cabinet Member for Leisure informed Members that the Landis & Gyr site had 
been sold for a higher price than offered by SKDC this option would no longer be 
available.  

 
Several questions or comments were raised by a Member to the Cabinet Member 
for Leisure, as follows: 

 

•   When had it been first suggested that if the Council had to rely on reserves and 
borrowing the new centre would not be affordable? 

•   Why had a leaflet produced by Councillor Barry Dobson in May 2021 included a 
statement within it that a new leisure centre would be created, with land secured? 

•   Members had not been made aware that in February 2020 the second Mace Report 
had made it clear that previous election promises were unaffordable. 

•   A Cabinet meeting suggested that the Councillor Barry Dobson had attended all 
Leisure Centres within South Kesteven. However, having approached Councillor 
Dobson requesting what date he had attended the Deepings Leisure Centre, he 
reported that he had not visited the Deepings Leisure Centre and stated that it was 
to be demolished.   

 
The Cabinet Member for Leisure responded to the questions and comments raised, 
as follows: 

 

•   The Linchfield Road playing fields site had been agreed in principle for a new 
Leisure Centre. At the time of the meeting, the Council had been looking to fund a 
new leisure facility using prudential borrowing, local priority reserves and a capital 
receipt, which would now no longer be possible due to solely having to rely on 
prudential borrowing to fund a new leisure centre, creating a significant revenue 
pressure for SKDC. 

•   The Mace Report had not been commissioned by himself. Questions were raised 
regarding this report at the time and experts were involved to assess the options 
available. The Deepings had been chosen as the preferred site to locate a new 
leisure centre. 

•   He had not visited the Deepings Leisure Centre at that time. He had been made 
aware, however, that the changing rooms needed to be repaired and upgraded. 

 
A Member asked the Cabinet Member for Finance and Waste Services why a new 
centre had never been included within the Medium Term Financial Strategy, which 
would be required, if a new centre had any potential. 

10



 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Waste Services, stated 
that a new build scheme would only be incorporated into the Council’s budget and 
Medium Term Financial Strategy if relevant scoping and feasibility work had been 
undertaken. The impact of COVID-19 and changes to external funding had affected 
the financial landscape for the Council. 

 
A Member asked the Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member for Leisure why the 
Council was no longer able to use the capital receipts, prudential borrowing and 
local priority reserves towards the cost of a new Leisure Centre. 

 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, Leader of the Council, took this opportunity to declare 
that he had trained and used Deepings Leisure Centre over a number of years. 

 
The Leader highlighted the need to balance the way the Council provided leisure 
services across the wider area. He underlined the ambition to replace the leisure 
centre in the Deepings, however, the finance mechanism that had been previously 
used would be around the private sector finance, to which this investment into the 
leisure market had now been diminished.  

 
A Member asked Paul Weston at what point in time had refurbishment options been 
explored rather than new build options and why the Landis and Gyr site had not 
been progressed. 

 
Mr Weston stated that he had prepared the Landis & Gyr option prior to the national 
lockdown. In terms of the sequencing, the refurbishment and remodel options for 
Deepings Leisure Centre, this had been prepared over the past four months.  

 
A Member asked the Cabinet Member for Leisure whether he had noticed the 
condition of the boilers on his visit to the Deepings Leisure Centre. 

 
Councillor Barry Dobson explained that he did not attend the Deepings Leisure 
Centre with other members of the Deepings when the condition of the boilers had 
been highlighted. 

 
A Member, in stating that recovery of the leisure sector was currently at 74%, asked 
David Rushton whether aspects of leisure were recovering from the impact of 
Covid. 

 
Mr Rushton confirmed that swimming was recovering well, particularly swimming 
lessons due to a good level of demand. However, it had not recovered fully 
potentially due to the age profile. The area of concern had been health and fitness 
due to being a lucrative element of a leisure service.  

 
A Member asked the Council’s Assistant Director of Finance and Section 151 
Officer the following questions: 

 

11



•   How did the minimum revenue provision work and what impact upon the Council’s 
revenue budget would this have going forward? 

•   Could he explain the financial affordability of a new build and the impact on the rest 
of the District? 

 
The Assistant Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer clarified the options 
available in terms of affordability. The different increases of council tax for each 
option were outlined, to which endorsement from residents would be taken into 
account.  

 
A Member asked Paul Weston if a major refurbishment of the Deepings Leisure 
Centre would be the only way forward or is a ‘patch up’ option available to prolong 
the current centres lifespan by five or ten years. 

 
Mr Weston clarified that the ‘patch up’ option was Option A as set out in the report. 
Option A dealt with the building’s failures currently and did not provide any different 
facilities, however, would last 25 years. He highlighted the opportunity for a remodel 
as the current structure of the building and the pool tanks were in good condition. 
By remodelling the current building, it would provide all the facilities of a new build 
but at a lower cost.  

 
A Member sought clarity on the following issues: 

 

•   The viability of new leisure centres in the Medium Term Financial Plan.  

•   The expense of a new leisure centre prior to Covid-19. 

•   The point in which the current leisure centre industry was in turmoil.  

•   Clarity on whether the Cabinet Member for Leisure did attend the Leisure Centre 

and view the boilers. 

•   The use of capital receipts from Stamford. 

•   When architects were investigating Landis & Gyr and the Linchfield Road site, why 

no other options were put forward following a remodel to reduce the cost. 

Councillor Dobson confirmed that he had visited the boiler room in the Deepings 
Leisure Centre and had confirmed that one of the boilers was already defunct, with 
the two boilers being of the same age. 

 
The Chairman invited Members to consider section (d) of the agenda at this stage 
of proceedings. 

 
Councillor Dobson confirmed that the Council had been in discussion with LCC, 
who owned the building, and the lease agreement was ongoing between SKDC and 
the Anthem Trust.  

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure confirmed that an agreed Heads of Terms had been 
confirmed with the Anthem Trust which would go to the Trustees for approval in due 
course. It was highlighted that the school did not want to take on the lease of the 
existing building in its current condition. However, an agreement for lease would be 
possible which would rely upon practical completion and specification of the work 

12



intended. The Council would be protected by having a legally binding agreement in 
place.  

 
Members raised concerns as to what could happen in eight years’ time, for 
example, if a lease could not be agreed and what the respective options would be 
available. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure clarified that until the Council agreed the Heads of 
Terms of a lease and a refurbishment option, these conversations could not be held 
with the Anthem Trust.   

 
A Member asked the Head of Arts and Leisure to confirm the timescale in which the 
Department for Education would correspond back to the Council. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure explained that there had been significant pressure 
from the Department for Education on LCC and the Anthem Trust to resolve 
matters. LCC had reassured SKDC that this issue would be expedited.  

 
A Member asked the Head of Arts and Leisure to confirm whether the refurbishment 
option would be looked into should the school decide not to renew its lease.  

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure confirmed that the Council would not invest into the 
Centre without a lease.  

 
A Member asked for clarification as to how long the lease would continue for and a 
negotiation timeframe. 

 
It was noted that the lease from LCC to the school would be 125 years as it must be 
on standard academy terms. 

 
A Member asked the Cabinet Member for Leisure what steps had been taken at 
LCC to attempt to resolve the lease situation and confirmation of the possible 
timescale of contractors starting work once a decision had been made. 

 
Councillor Dobson was unable to answer this question but stated. However, he 
stated for the record that in his time as a County Councillor he had attended the 
majority of Deeping St James Parish Council meetings in the years 2017-2021. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure clarified that the lease between LCC and the Anthem 
Trust would have to take place in parallel and that those negotiations were well 
advanced. The two agreements would be entered in concurrently.  

 
The Chairman invited Members to discuss items (e), (f), (g) and (h) of the agenda at 
this stage of proceedings. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure confirmed that the school had requested additional 
work to be undertaken such as a resurfacing of car park, a new incoming water 
main and bollards at the entrance gates.  

13



 
A Member shared his disappointment over the selling of the Landis & Gyr site. He 
stated that the report outlined the comparisons of the Landis & Gyr site for 
refurbishment with a new build and did not mention renovating the existing 
Deepings Leisure Centre.  

 
Clarification was sought as to how the costings of the options available had been 
calculated. 

 
Mr Weston confirmed that at the start of the project he looked at the needs 
assessment as if it was to be a new build and how this could be related to the 
existing building. He highlighted the problems of the existing building, specifically 
accommodation for people on the first-floor level which comprised a very small gym 
space. Mr Weston highlighted the aspects of each of the options available and the 
difference in costings. 

 
Mr Rushton commented on the business planning of the options. He stressed that 
all options and business plans factored in the relaunch of the Centre including its 
memberships and swimming lessons. He also outlined that the financial model of a 
Leisure Centre was dependant on health and fitness income, swimming income and 
swimming lesson income. These three components determined the financial 
performance of a Leisure Centre, based on the catchment area and customer 
demand.  

 
The Chief Executive noted that in paragraph 1.22 of the report, the needs analysis 
had been provided where the demographics of the area were investigated to identify 
the needs of the area for these facilities. It was highlighted that the Anthem Trust 
were in use of the playing fields, sports hall and the swimming pool and that the 
refurbishment options available included the Anthem Trust still having access to 
these. 

 
A Member asked Paul Weston the following questions: 

 

•   When SKDC was exploring new build options on Linchfield Road and the Landis & 
Gyr site, why was a recommendation not made regarding a new build centre? 

•   Why did the costs of Option A appear higher than the £1.5 million that LCC’s 
condition survey originally stated? 

•   Could he confirm the cost and timescale of a basic refurbishment as set out in 
Option A? 

•   If the Council did agree to undertake a refurbishment rather than a new build, what 
would the arrangement be with the school and how would the partnership be 
managed? 

•   Could he confirm the management of cost and maintenance of the shared use car 
park? 

•   Would there be an impact on income in respect of the lease of school fields? 

•   If the refurbishment of the existing centre went ahead, would the refurbishment be 
phased? 

•   Could he confirm figures based around the demand of Deepings Leisure Centre? 

14



 
Mr Weston confirmed he had prepared and presented refurbishment options in 
2013 to SKDC. He highlighted an issue raised that a new build could be built whilst 
the existing Leisure Centre remained in operation. He stated that a basic 
refurbishment option would be based on a 25-year lifespan, which was used to 
judge the selection of materials and how long they would last. The work that had 
been completed around Option A was based on the new condition survey which 
produced more evidenced information.   

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure confirmed that the proposed lease would include the 
Leisure Centre building and the playing fields. It was highlighted that the school 
would still require the use of the sports hall and playing fields during day term time, 
however, the proposal included a payment from the school. Alongside this, a 
Service Level Agreement could be developed which would detail the payments and 
how they would be calculated.  

 
It was noted that a phased delivery could be something that the Council 
investigated, however, the current costs were based on the work being completed 
at one time. It was a probability that the options around phasing may increase the 
cost.  

 
Further clarity was sought in relation to the extension of the catchment area 
considered and whether transport facilities were considered to determine the 
demand of the area. 

 
Mr Rushton confirmed that the catchment area was a 20 minute travel time and that 
current and future population projections were included within this assessment. It 
was highlighted that none of the projections indicated that the centre would not take 
less than it did before, warning however that it may take some time to get back to 
how it was prior to closure. 

 
A query was raised regarding the consideration of Stamford, Grantham and Bourne. 
Bourne had experienced a leaking roof and had an old boiler. It was understood, 
however, that temporary measures had been put into place for the winter.  

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure clarified that Bourne Leisure Centre opened in the 
1990’s and that the installations were not as old as the Deepings Leisure Centre. A 
budget had been assigned to bring forward the refurbishment options, with that 
budget not having been fully utilised. The Council was in the process of 
commissioning full building condition surveys on Stamford, Grantham and Bourne 
Leisure Centres to identify their condition and to develop asset management plans.  

 
The Chairman made the following points: 

 

•   The figures in the report were not in the current Medium Term Financial Plans, 
together with the revenue that would need to be gained and any savings generated. 

•   The impact of inflation that had been modelled were still unclear. 

15



•   It would be interesting to understand the Leader of the Council’s preferred approach 
in respect of the options presented. 

 
The Assistant Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer highlighted the financial 
implications in the report were slightly disproportionate due to the new build being a 
50-year lifespan and the refurbishing of the existing asset being 25-year lifespan. 
This put pressure on the borrowing profile due to it being over a shortened period. 
The surplus income projections could be used to offset the borrowing cost options.  

 
The Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance and Waste 
Service noted that to facilitate this any budget decisions would be made by Full 
Council.  

 
Mr Weston confirmed that the contingency allowance at this stage was 10%. The 
calculations for inflation had followed a national service building cost calculated by 
the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and was received on a monthly basis. 
The inflation figures were based on the mid-point of the different options.  

 
The Leader of the Council highlighted the ambition for Option C, due to delivering 
everything that a new centre would, whilst protecting services in the south of the 
District. Cabinet and Council would determine the outcome in terms of savings and 
prioritising the budgets in respect of leisure.  

 
A Member queried what consultation had taken place with the Deepings community 
about the options available for Deepings Leisure Centre. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure stated that the proposals set out in the report were 
subject to consultation and highlighted the difficulty of community consultation with 
no parameters.  

 
A Member questioned procurement of works for this project. 

 
The Head of Arts and Leisure stated that, following the meeting, detailed work 
around procurement would be undertaken for presentation to Cabinet on 7 
December 2021. 

 

The Monitoring Officer clarified that this meeting would be making 
recommendations to Cabinet, with a further recommendation from Cabinet referred 
onto Full Council at its extraordinary meeting on 14 December 2021 for the final 
decision. It was highlighted that this meeting, as a Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, had no decision-making power on this matter.  

 
AGREED: 

 
To note the feasibility work undertaken to establish options for leisure 
provision in the Deepings.  
 

 

16



RECOMMENDATION: 
 

That the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommends to Cabinet that 
Full Council: 

 
(1) Approves Option C with a budget allocation of £10.663m for leisure facilities 

to meet the local needs in the Deepings area, subject to meaningful 
community consultation and the inclusion of a financial review. 
 

(2) Requests the relevant Cabinet Member to call upon the Department for 
Education and the Anthem Trust to resolve the lease of Deepings Leisure 
Centre in order to allow LeisureSK Ltd and South Kesteven District Council 
representatives to reopen the Deepings Leisure Centre as soon as possible. 

 
5. Close of meeting 

 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 17:09. 

 
 

17



This page is intentionally left blank

18



 

 

Meeting of the  
Finance, Economic 
Development and Corporate 
Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Tuesday, 22 February 2022, 2.00 pm 

                  
Council Chamber - South Kesteven House,  
St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 

 

 

Committee Members present 
 
Councillor Graham Jeal (Chairman) 
Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley (Acting Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Helen Crawford 
Councillor John Dawson 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Philip Knowles 
Councillor Susan Sandall 
 
Other Members in attendance 
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
 
Officers in attendance 
 
Karen Bradford (Chief Executive) 
Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive) 
Ken Lyon (Assistant Chief Executive) 
Gary Smith (Director of Commercial and Operations) 
Richard Wyles (Assistant Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer )) 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of Growth and Culture) 
Andrew Cotton (Director of Housing and Property) 
Alison Hall-Wright (Head of Finance and ICT) 
Jon Hinde (InvestSK Ltd Manager) 
Sarah Downs (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

 

47. Comments from members of the public 
 

The Chairman commenced the meeting by informing Members that as the Vice-
Chairman had moved on to the Cabinet, a replacement was needed for today’s 
meeting.  A request for nominations or volunteers was made.  A nomination was 
made for Councillor Rice-Oxley to act as Vice-Chairman. 

19

Agenda Item 5



 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED that Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley was to 
act as Vice-Chairman for today’s meeting only. 
 
The Chairman asked if Members had received any comments from members of the 
public.  As Committee Members confirmed they had received none, the Chairman 
confirmed he had received two comments. 

 
A question was asked from a resident through the Chairman, commenting upon the 
fuel theft from the Alexandra Road Depot: 
 

• Where would this be scrutinised? 
 
The Assistant Director of Finance stated that a verbal update was given at the last 
Governance and Audit Committee meeting, following the outcome of the criminal 
prosecution on the matter.  It was identified that there were some weaknesses in 
the internal control framework and an improvement plan was implemented.  This 
was to be tracked and monitored with updates given to Governance and Audit 
Committee at the appropriate time.   
 
ACTION 1 
 
That a brief summary of the findings from the Governance and Audit 
Committee on the fuel theft matter be given to Finance, Economic 
Development and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Following the recent postponement of the Finance, Economic Development and 
Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee, a member of the public 
asked if the correct process was followed.  The Chairman apologised for the late 
notice of the postponement, having explained that it had come to his attention that 
the majority of Committee Members could not attend on 15 February and the 
decision was taken in consultation with Democratic Services Officers.  The 
Chairman asked the Monitoring Officer for an explanation of the process as per the 
Constitution. 
 
The Monitoring Officer confirmed that the Chairman brought it to the attention of 
Democratic Services that a number of Committee Members were unable to attend 
the meeting scheduled on 15 February, making the meeting unlikely to have been 
quorate.  The Officer explained that this was an ‘exceptional circumstance’ in the 
Council’s view and the decision was made to delay the meeting which was 
reasonable, in line with the Constitution.  Apologies were made to those who had to 
change their plans. 

 
The Chairman reiterated the apology and confirmed that a written response had 
been sent to the member of the public. 
 
A Member in attendance questioned the reasoning behind the postponement of the 
meeting and felt that the circumstances for moving the meeting were not as 

20



prescribed within the Constitution.  The Member felt that perhaps this was 
something that the Committee could refer to the Constitution Committee. The 
Chairman indicated that he was happy for the matter to be referred to the relevant 
Committee. 

 
48. Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors David Bellamy, Gloria 
Johnson and Charmaine Morgan. 
 
It was noted that Councillor Helen Crawford would be substituting for Councillor 
David Bellamy and Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley would be substituting for Councillor 
Gloria Johnson. 
 

49. Disclosure of interests 
 

No disclosures of interest were received. 
 

50. Action notes of the meeting held on 3 December 2021 
 

It was proposed, seconded and AGREED that the action notes from the meeting 
held on 3 December 2021 were a correct record. 

 
51. Action notes from Joint Scrutiny - Deepings Leisure Centre on 30 November 

2021 
 

The Chairman asked if there were any comments on the action notes from the 
meeting held on 30 November 2021 before voting on their approval.  The following 
points were raised during discussion: 
 

• A Member asked what the process of the minutes were and if the Chairman 
had approved them before publication.  They further explained that they didn’t 
agree they were entirely accurate. 

 

• There was no confirmation of who the Chairman and Vice-Chairman were, at 
the meeting. 

 

• A Member felt there were points missing from the public statements. 
 
The Chairman confirmed that he referred the minutes of the meetings that he 
chaired to the Vice-Chairman, to approve minutes, explaining that taking accurate 
notes was not always possible alongside the role of chairing a meeting.  He further 
informed the Committee that the role of Chairman for the Joint Scrutiny Committee 
was rotated following a decision taken previously, but he had chaired the Joint 
Scrutiny Budget meeting. 

 

21



Concern was expressed by some Members about the content of the minutes with 
some Members feeling that the minutes were inaccurate and not a true reflection of 
the meeting held on 30 November 2021. 
 
The Chairman rejected the view that the minutes were inaccurate but agreed some 
elements could be added.  He informed the Committee that as the meeting on 30 
November 2021 was an important meeting and cross-party support for the minutes 
was required, the minutes were to be referred to the Head of Democratic Services 
with the agreement of the Committee today and were to be voted on at the next 
meeting in May.  
 
Decision 
 
That the minutes of the joint meeting held on 30 November 2021 be referred 
back to the Head of Democratic Services and that they would be voted on at 
the meeting held in May 2022. 

 
52. Updates from previous meeting 

 
There were none from the meeting held on 3 December 2021. 
 
A Member asked if an update could be requested on the meeting held on 30 
November 2021 in reference to the Deepings Leisure Centre.  The Member asked if 
all Building Condition Surveys for all district Leisure Centres had been 
commissioned. 
 
The Director for Growth and Culture confirmed they had been commissioned and 
results would be available within the next month or two. 
 
A question was asked in relation to the position with regard to the lease in respect 
of the Deepings Leisure Centre.  It was stated that the specific questions around 
leisure should be directed to the Committee which dealt with leisure which was the 
Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee, this would enable 
the correct senior officers to update Members.  
 
ACTION 
 
That an update in respect of the position of the lease for Deepings Leisure 
Centre be referred as an item to the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and that a written response following the Committee 
be circulated to the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members. 

 
53. The Post-Brexit South Kesteven Economic Climate 

 
 A report was presented by the Director for Growth and Culture to the Committee.  
The report provided insight into the impact felt since ‘Brexit’ by businesses within 

22



South Kesteven.  A range of online and specialist support was provided to 
approximately 6,000 businesses. 
 
The Director continued that there were five commonly reported issues faced by the 
business community within the district due to the UK’s exit from the European 
Union.  A close look into the agric-food sector in particular identified seven county-
wide issues. 

 
The Committee were informed that while some level of disruption had been felt over 
the last 60 weeks, there has been no long-term negative impact on the local 
economy.  Labour shortages had not impeded production or led to business 
closures.  InvestSK Ltd would continue to design appropriate measures of support 
for business as necessary. 
 
During discussion, the following points were raised: 
 

• The transport industry had, at least nationally, experienced substantial delays 
in receiving product from Europe and issues in getting supplies to the 
supermarket shelf.  This may worsen in the coming months. 

 

• Is there specific data available on the number of enquiries received from 
businesses? 

 

• Approximately £51 million was handed out by the Council in business grants.  
A Member asked for assurance that the Council followed the necessary 
procedures to ensure the appropriate grant was paid to legitimate businesses. 
The Government had referenced concerns regarding potential  ‘scam 
businesses’.   

 

• Over 3,000 local businesses received help when needed.  Congratulations 
were expressed to officers for getting the help to those that required it in a 
timely manner. 

 

• A Member asked if the Council had to contribute financially towards the 
helpline run by the Lincolnshire Growth Hub. 

 
The InvestSK Ltd Manager confirmed that the report noted that delays in delivery of 
perishable goods was recognised both locally and nationally.  The Council had 
addressed these concerns by looking at potential schemes to retrain people as 
HGV drivers.  Training costs £3,000 per driver and discussions had taken place 
with local businesses. 
 
The InvestSK Manager continued by informing the Committee that when awarding 
business grants, all checks and balances were done in advance of payment.  The 
Council had been audited by the Government a number of times with satisfactory 
findings.  It was stressed that any findings of fraud would be passed on to the 
Police. 

 

23



Reference was made within the report to paragraph 1.12 which concerned the 
Lincolnshire Growth Hub and the EU exit helpline which was accessed by only 41 
businesses. It was clarified that no financial contribution was required for the 
helpline for the Lincolnshire Growth Hub from the Council. 
 
The Chairman stated that it was an excellent report on the local economy, however, 
the item had been put on the agenda to see what the direct impact on operations of 
the Council there was, post Brexit.  From reading the report it seemed the Brexit 
had no impact on Council operations, employment, sourcing and provisions of 
Council services across the district. 
 
It was stated that the content of the report was not specific to the Council but the 
economy of South Kesteven as an area and reference was made to the next item 
on the agenda in relation to the COVID-19 impact report.  If the Committee required 
detail which was specific to the impact on South Kesteven as a Council then a 
further report would be required.  It was noted that difficulties had arisen and an 
example was given in respect of the labour market and the acquirement of staff 
since Brexit.   
 
A Member asked for it to be noted that the statement within the report (para. 1.4) 
that ‘everything else remained the same’ had been challenged robustly and that the 
statement was not entirely accurate. 

 
Members noted the recommendations contained within the report. 

 
54. The Impact of Covid-19 on South Kesteven 

 
A report was presented to the Committee by the Assistant Chief Executive, that set 
out South Kesteven District Council’s response to the global pandemic such as 
measures taken to reduce the potential for transmission of the virus as well as an 
explanation of the key lessons learnt to date. 
 
The Assistant Chief Executive informed the Committee that 3 priorities were set out 
by the Council at the start of the pandemic: 
 

• To protect the health of staff and residents 
 

• To maintain critical services 
 

• To support local businesses 
 
The report also covered the financial impact, such as income loss through car parks 
not used in lockdowns and the impact of delivery of savings as staff were 
redeployed to support in critical services.  Additional costs were incurred in 
personal protective equipment.  It was explained that income from Government 
grants mitigated some of the losses such as the income protection grant. 
 

24



Lessons learnt included the value of the Council’s role in enabling the community 
voluntary sector to support the local community through its vital work during the 
pandemic.  As a result of these findings, risk modelling was undertaken to ensure 
the Council was even better prepared for the future. 
 
The Assistant Chief Executive wanted to ensure that everyone involved in 
supporting local residents during the pandemic was formally thanked by the 
Committee, including the communities within the voluntary sector that stepped in to 
help. 
 
During discussion, the following points were raised by Members: 
 

• A Member described the report as very thorough and interesting. Appendix 1 
contained clear information. The lessons learnt were clearly set out and very 
reflective.  How were the lessons learnt put into practice? 

 

• A Member noted that the pandemic highlighted the Council could play a 
greater role in community leadership and felt this could have been considered 
prior to the pandemic.   

 

• Tribute was made to the cross party work being undertaken in respect of 
mental health and the impact that Covid-19 had, particularly on children’s 
mental health. 

 

• The financial impact was also highlighted and the cost to the Council after 
receiving Government grants. What was the cost of ‘usual’ Government 
funding for the Council pre-pandemic. 
 

The Assistant Chief Executive confirmed that a number of lessons learnt have been 
incorporated into the continuing review process.  For example, the business 
continuity plan has been regularly reviewed and updated and was part of Service 
Plans activity.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committees have covered different 
elements as relevant and this was also reflected within performance management. 

 
The Assistant Director of Finance stated that the full cost of Covid-19 to the Council 
could not be specifically calculated as budgets were volatile and prone to change.  
He referred to the various factors that had to be taken into consideration and stated 
that there was not always a clear correlation between services and financial losses. 
It was emphasised that the full impact of the pandemic was yet to be measured but 
a table included in the report provided a financial overview. 

 
The Chairman thanked the Officers for a comprehensive report and referred to how 
the transformation and savings could be actioned going forward and the delivery 
mechanisms.  He again thanked the Assistant Chief Executive for his contribution to 
the Committee over the years that he had been at South Kesteven. 
 
 
 

25



AGREED: 
 

a) That the Committee noted the impact of Covid-19 and related restrictions 
on SKDC services and the ongoing changes to the service delivery 
landscape for the district. 

 
b) That the Committee endorsed the key lessons learnt from Covid-19 and 

asked the Chief Executive to ensure that these were embedded in the 
future operations of the Council. 

 
c) That the Committee thanked all those involved in the response and 

recovery from Covid-19, with particular thanks to communities and the 
voluntary sector who had played a vital role in supporting the most 
vulnerable during the pandemic. 
 

55. Finance Monitoring Update - April to December 2021 
 

The Head of Finance presented a report that provided the third update in this 
financial year to the Committee. 
 
The Officer was able to report a forecast deficit as at 31 December 2021 of 
£528,000 – a reduction of approximately £560,000 when compared to 30 
September 2021.  The reduction was as a result of: 
 

• In year vacancies in a number of service areas. 
 

• Improved car-parking forecast income. 
 

• Additional reduction in spending within service areas. 
 
Further main points covered within the report included the general fund forecast 
outturn position at directorate level with an appendix that provided the forecast 
outturn along with details of significant variances for each service area. 
 
The Head of Finance continued that the forecast deficit of £528,000 included 
additional workshop costs of £160,000 due to a combination of an increase in the 
price and quantity of consumables and external specialist repair works on end-of-
life vehicles.  It was confirmed that a non-key decision had been approved from the 
Save to Spend waste reserve which reduced the forecast deficit to £368,000. 

 
Table 3 of the report provided a forecast outturn of significant income streams with 
a forecast deficit of £947,000 reduced to £817,000 following the final payment from 
the Income Losses Scheme.  Reference was made to rows four and five of the 
table where the forecast outturn figures had been reported the wrong way round.  
The Stamford Arts Centre should read £352,000 and Building Control should read 
£670,000, all other figures were correct.  

 

26



Paragraph 2.6 of the report provided Members with an update on the positive 
savings that continued to be made through the hybrid working arrangements of 
Council staff.  Forecasts showed savings of £135,000 across a number of budget 
headings as highlighted in Table 4 of the report.  
 
Section 3 of the report provided an update on the General Fund Capital 
Programme.  Table 6 showed a forecast spend of £5.8m against a current budget 
of £8.7m and Table 7 provided further details on significant variances for each 
scheme.  Budget carried forwards had been requested for some of the schemes 
and these would be reflected in the Budget report to Council on 3 March 2022. 

  
Section 4 of the report detailed the forecast position of the Housing Revenue 
Account Budget was also included alongside a detailed breakdown.  Table 9 
showed a forecast surplus of £2.3m against a budgeted £3.7m.  Appendix B 
detailed a breakdown of the HRA and comments regarding the variances shown. 
 
Section 5 of the report provided an update on the Capital Programme and the 
forecast spend was shown in Table 11.  A number of budget carry forwards had 
been requested for the HRA.  
 
The final section of the report confirmed the collection rates for council tax business 
rates and HRA dwelling rents and these were monitored on a monthly basis. 

 
Members raised the following points during the discussion that followed: 

 

• A Member asked if the Football Foundation bid had been completed with 
regard to the Deepings all-weather pitch? 

 
The Chief Executive confirmed that the football foundation bid was still moving 
forward.  Funding had not been in place last year but will be this coming year.  A 
further update would be provided as available. 

 

• Has the reduction in the backlog of Void properties improved the performance 
in void rates? 

 
The Director of Housing confirmed that the new voids policy contributed to the 
significant November reached over 100 and was now below 50. 

 

• In reference to the Heritage action zone, there were delays in establishing a 
property grant scheme.  What were causing these delays? 

 
The Manager of InvestSK Ltd explained that the delays in establishing the shop 
front grant scheme were due to finding skilled trades-people and sourcing materials 
as there was a national shortage.  Brexit and Covid-19 have added to these delays 
which may take months to overcome but was expected. 

 

• Variances were rising – was the inflation rate used too low? 
 

27



The Head of Finance confirmed that the assumptions used for budget setting were 
established at a specific point so it was an inherent risk that significant variations to 
the assumptions could have an adverse impact on the financial position.  However, 
there was an established risk register that models the variations to the financial 
assumptions to assess the financial exposure. 

 
Further questions were asked in relation to the Council’s commitment to large 
funding programmes and the fluctuations in Business Rates to which the Assistant 
Head of Finance and the Head of Finance responded. 

 
The Committee noted the forecast 2021/22 outturn position for the General Fund 
and HRA Revenue and Capital budgets as at the end of December 2021 and 
identified any variances that required further action or investigation and any specific 
actions or interventions were considered in order to reduce the General Fund 
forecast deficit. 

 
56. Work Programme 2021 - 2022 

 
The Committee noted the contents of the Work Programme 2021 – 2022. 

 

• It was noted that the Future High Street Funding report was to be heard at the 
next meeting.  Other main towns within South Kesteven were to be considered 
in a similar future report. 

• It was suggested that an updated report on voids performance be considered 
for addition to the Work Programme. 
 

57. Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstance 
decides is urgent 

 
There were none. 

 
58. Close of meeting 

 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 15:28pm. 

 
 

28



 

 

 

 

Finance, Economic Development, 
Corporate Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

3 May 2022 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke  

  The Leader of the Council   

         
  

 

Grantham Future High Streets Fund 

The report provides a programme overview and update on the progress of the Future High Streets 
Fund projects in Grantham following the award of £5.56 million by the government to deliver the 
programme in April 2021.  

 

Report Author 

Alex Ward,  Future High Streets Fund Programme Manager, Invest SK  

 
 07816 596964 

  alex.ward@investsk.co.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Administrative Grantham St Wulfram's 

 

Reviewed by: Jon Hinde – Head of Economic Development 14 April 2022 

Approved by: Karen Bradford – Chief Executive  19 April 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, Leader of the Council 20 April 2022 

 

Recommendations to the decision makers 

 

1. To note the progress made in the delivery of the Future High Streets Fund 
programme for Grantham. 

2. That an update report is considered within 12 months and that this be included in 
the Work Programme.   

 

29

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Future High Street Fund supports the Council’s priority of driving growth of our 

economy, developing the District’s four town centres, Bourne, Grantham, Market Deeping 

and Stamford and specifically the regeneration of Grantham town centre which is identified 

as a key action in the Corporate Plan (2020-2023).  

1.2 The £830 million Future High Streets Fund (FHSF) is part of the Government’s overall 

£3.6 billion Towns Fund and aims to renew and reshape town centres and high streets in 

a way that drives growth, improves experience and ensures future sustainability. South 

Kesteven District Council (SKDC) submitted a bid for £8,041,845 to deliver infrastructure 

improvements projects in Grantham.  

1.3 As the overall FHSF was over-subscribed nationally the Ministry of Housing Local 

Government and Communities (MHCLG) capped the amount that SKDC could be 

awarded at 69% of the original funding request. Consequently, the bid projects were 

reviewed to meet the funding cap and following recommendation from both the 

consultants supporting the bid and the InvestSK Board, Council Cabinet approved the 

removal of the St Peter’s Hill public realm project from the overall programme in February 

2021.  In the same month, both the Cabinet decision and the proposed final bid 

submission to MHCLG were reviewed by Finance, Economic Development and Corporate 

Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  The Council’s final submission was sent to 

the MHCLG on 24 February 2021. 

1.4 Following review of the final submission by MHCLG, SKDC was notified that the FHSF bid 

was successful and an award of £5,556,042 was made on 1 April 2021 to deliver 

infrastructure investment projects in Grantham.  A match contribution of £379,092 revenue 

funding from SKDC was allocated to develop town centre leadership and promotional 

activities over the programme period.  The programme period runs until 31 March 2024, 

by which time all projects need to be completed and spend defrayed.    

1.5 The confirmed funding package, including the SKDC match, enables the delivery of five 

individual projects, four specific infrastructure projects, programme management and the 

creation of a Town Team supported by an Engagement Manager. A summary of the 

projects to be delivered is set out below with a plan showing individual scheme locations 

at Appendix A: 

• (A) Station Approach public realm – improved pedestrian and cycling access between 
Grantham Railway Station and the town centre (Station Road and 5-Arm Junction).  

• (B) Market Place public realm improvements to create an open event space as a focal 
point for the town. 

• (C) Strategic site acquisition to enable Station Approach Mixed-Use Development 
Stage 1.  

• (D) Delivery of a grant programme to support the conversion of unused and 
underutilised upper floor retail space to residential accommodation. 

• To create a Town Team comprising key stakeholders and representatives to help 
promote the town and provide leadership on the future of Grantham. The Town Team 
will be supported by a Grantham Engagement Manager (to be appointed).   

1.6 The FHSF programme is administered by InvestSK in collaboration with key SKDC Officer 

colleagues and supported by delivery partners including Lincolnshire County Council. 

30



 

 
 

Based upon anticipated programme delivery in 2021/2022, the first tranche of FHSF, 

amounting to £1,162,422 has been received by SKDC.  Further details on the funding 

package is provided under the financial overview and implications sections of this report. 

The funding is now provided by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 

Communities (DLUHC) which succeeded MHCLG in September 2021.  

1.7 A summary of the individual programme projects with programme progress is set out 

below.  

1.8 Programme Manager 

The first stage of programme delivery was the appointment of a Programme Manager, 

fully funded through the FHSF.  Recruitment commenced in May 2021 and the 

Programme Manager started work in August 2021.   

1.9 Station Approach Public Realm 

This project will improve the pedestrian and cycling connectivity between the railway 

station and Grantham town centre. The aim is to create an improved and welcoming key 

gateway to the town along with encouraging the 1.4 million (pre-Pandemic) annual 

travellers using the railway station to visit the town centre. The existing footway on Station 

Road will be widened to enhance the pedestrian experience. Significant improvements will 

be made to the 5-arm junction creating a defined pedestrian and cycling route across the 

A52 toward Westgate. Subject to detailed design and updated costing the scheme will 

benefit from planting, the inclusion of heritage lighting columns and upgraded traffic 

signalling.  

Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) and the London North Eastern Railway (LNER) have 

joint responsibility for the management and maintenance of Station Road. Cooperation 

and agreement to deliver the improvements on Station Road is required between these 

stakeholders.  Separately to the FHSF, LNER independently completed an improvement 

programme to the station car parks and Station Road during 2021 which has already 

improved the area.  This work has delivered some of the aims of the Station Approach 

project and consideration will be given to improving cycling connectivity to enhance the 

scheme further.      

1.10 Market Place Public Realm 

This project will raise the current road height of the Market Place to deliver a single level 

structured, cohesive space, capable of delivering a regular programme of town centre 

events. When not in use, the Market Place will function as a central urban open space for 

the town, resuming its historic function as a market place. This improvement will re-

establish the Market Place as the heart of the town and a gathering point for residents and 

visitors.  As a public highway, the management and maintenance of the Market Place is 

the responsibility of LCC.  Delivery of the project will therefore require close liaison with 

the Highways Team at LCC.      

1.11 Public Realm Projects Progress  

Significant progress has been made with the development of the two public realm projects 

at Station Approach and Market Place. The delivery of the public realm is dependent upon 

the cooperation and support of Lincolnshire County Council’s Highways team and with 

respect to Station Approach, LNER. The Programme Manager has actively engaged with 

both organisations and LCC have drafted a provisional delivery programme which 

31



 

 
 

indicates proposed completion of the Market Place in the Autumn of 2023 and Station 

Approach by December 2023.   

LCC have completed the recruitment of a highways design and delivery team to support 

the public realm projects, including a delivery project manager.  Detailed design and 

costing for both schemes has commenced with a progress report scheduled to be taken to 

the next Future High Streets Fund Project Board on the 18th May 2022.  

One of the key issues is the County Council decision to not close Conduit Lane which will 

potentially remain an active junction.  This could have an impact upon the design, 

materials used and extent to which the Market Place can be developed for use as an 

event space.  Members will be kept updated as this aspect progresses.       

Following a joint meeting, LNER have indicated that they are supportive of the scheme 

and are willing to work with LCC to assist with delivery of it.   

1.12 Station Approach Mixed-Use Development Stage 1 – Strategic Site Acquisition 

It has been a long-standing ambition of the Council to regenerate the historic industrial 

area between Wharf Road and the railway station.  The area has the potential to deliver a 

mixed-use scheme comprising commercial, leisure and residential uses thereby improving 

the quality of the built environment in the Station Road and Wharf Road area and 

enhancing the gateway link between the town centre and railway station.  As a first phase 

of what could be a wider area of regeneration, the FHSF provides funding to acquire a 

strategic site in its existing use.  The acquisition of the site may necessitate the use of 

certain local authority powers to support a greater certainty of delivery as set out at 

Appendix B. 

Separately to the FHSF, SKDC have been approached by London and Continental 

Railways (LCR), the development delivery arm of the Department for Transport.  LCR 

have a track record of delivering regeneration projects nationally, especially around 

railway stations and rail infrastructure. LCR are reviewing the opportunities around 

Grantham station, on land owned by Network Rail (NR) as well as in private ownership 

and are interested in considering the strategic site as part of a much wider potential 

regeneration area.  A Memorandum of Understanding has been agreed between LCR, NR 

and SKDC to consider this opportunity further and LCR have funded and are currently 

progressing a concept design and feasibility study of the area. 

LCR have been in contact with the owners of the strategic site.  At this stage, the owners 

have indicated a willingness to discuss the possibility of moving from their existing site 

only if suitable alternative premises are provided for them to relocate to.        

1.13 Upper Floor Grants 

This project will support the conversion of underutilised upper floor accommodation in the 

principal retail areas of Grantham to create high quality accommodation.  The grant will 

fund 50% of the conversion costs, up to a maximum of £25,000 per unit created.  The 

funding provided means that a minimum of 22 new units can be created.  

The full criteria for the upper floor grants scheme has been collaboratively developed by 

the Programme Manager with subject matter experts across SKDC.  The key grant 

scheme document is provided at Appendix C.  In summary, the key aims of the grant are:      

• To develop high quality residential accommodation in the town centre, the grant will 

not fund the creation of bedsits. 

32



 

 
 

• To maximise the energy efficiency of the new units, applicants are encouraged to 

aim for an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) Rating C.  

• To create space that accords with DLUHC’s Technical Space Standards. 

• To preserve the historic character of the building for conversion and enhance the 

area. 

It is acknowledged that there are limitations in achieving these aims within the context of 

converting buildings generally, the Conservation Area status and large amount of Listed 

Buildings within the grant scheme area.  These factors may hinder owners’ ability to 

deliver all the proposed outcomes.  However, applicants will need to state how they have 

used all reasonable endeavours to meet the criteria as much as the conversion 

opportunity allows. The grant scheme was launched in February 2022 and has attracted 

four Expressions of Interest which could potentially deliver 18 new residential units.   

1.14 Town Team 

The final project is to develop a Town Team formed from a wide-ranging group of 

Grantham stakeholders including business, community, political and resident 

representatives. This was a key request of SKDC during the development of the FHSF 

bid. The purpose of the group is to: 

• Act as the Champions of Grantham, promoting the town internally and externally 

• Provide new ideas and concepts of how Grantham can develop in the future 

• Support the development of a continuous programme of events and promotional 
activities 

• Provide a sounding board for new policy and strategy to develop and regenerate 
Grantham   

• Assist with generating funding and sponsorship for events and promotional activities 
 

The group will be supported by an Engagement Manager for the duration of the 

programme period who will be responsible for the delivery of an agreed activity plan. This 

aspect of the programme is funded by the SKDC match contribution.    

Consideration of the development of the Town Team concept, Action Plan and potential 

membership is in progress.  At this stage a smaller group of key Grantham stakeholders 

have supported work to develop a branding concept for Grantham, utilising the Welcome 

Back Fund. Membership of the Town Team can be fluid depending upon areas of interest 

and specialisms to support individual projects.  

Financial Overview 

1.15 The FHSF programme funding runs from the date of award 1 April 2021 until 31 March 

2024.  The overall programme funding is £5,556,042 with an additional revenue match 

from SKDC of £379,092 and an anticipated private sector match (the 50% owner 

contribution to the Upper Floor Grants) of £550,000, the latter could be larger depending 

upon the level of owner contribution.  The programme has been compressed from an 

originally proposed four-year delivery period to three years.  The Year 1 funding was not 

received until June 2021 and the Programme Manager not appointed until August 2021. 

The individual project budgets are set out in Appendix D.   

33



 

 
 

1.16 The programme funding profile as proposed in the final submission to MHCLG in February 

2021 and confirmed in the payment award letter on 2 June 2021 is set out in the table 

below.  

 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 Total (£) 

Capital (£) 1,161,422 1,193,682 3,200,939 5,556,042 

 

1.17 Programme funding has been confirmed and the Council has received the full 2021-22 

allocation of £1,161,422.   To support the Government’s Spending Review process SKDC 

was asked to evaluate projected spend for subsequent years and it was concluded that 

the majority of the delivery programme and therefore spend, will not occur until the last 

year of the project (2023/2024).  The Year 1 allocation has been found to be sufficient to 

cover the projected programme costs, including the Upper Floor grant funding required to 

take the project through 2021/2022 and 2022/2023.  This position was reported to DLUHC 

in September 2021 and reviewed again in the first DLUHC progress report in early 

February 2022.  The budget profile has been revised as illustrated below: 

 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 Total (£) 

Capital (£) 38,143 1,070,287 4,447,612 5,556,042 

  

1.18 This amends the total projected spend for 2021/2022 and 2022/2023 to £1,108,430, 

leaving £52,992 from the Year 1 allocation already received.  These changes have 

occurred because of revised programme delivery.  Aside from the risks noted, the budget 

remains on track to deliver the full FHSF programme.  

1.20 The FHSF bid included an SKDC match contribution of £379,092. This funding will support 

the employment of an Engagement Manager, town centre promotional activities, including 

events. The original FHSF programme was scheduled to be a four-year duration, which 

following confirmation of the FHSF award, was condensed to three years.  The Town 

Team is yet to be fully formed nor has the Engagement Manager been recruited.  This, 

coupled with the shortened delivery programme duration, means the SKDC contribution 

requires re-profiling. It is key to note that the FHSF only allows limited spend to be made 

on areas defined by Government as “beautification”, including street furniture, public art, 

lighting and planting.  The FHSF delivers essentially hard infrastructure projects and the 

re-profiling of the SKDC contribution allows the opportunity to review the spend and 

consider enhancements to the schemes through “beautification”. A public art project and 

prominent building lighting have been suggested previously as potential programmes.        

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 This report is being presented to the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate 

Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee to update Members on the progress of the 

Grantham FHSF programme. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Option 1: The programme could be closed and unspent allocation received, returned to 

DLUHC. 

3.2 Option 2: Continue to deliver the project as per the draft delivery programme at Appendix 

E. 

34



 

 
 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 Option 2: Continue to deliver the project as per the draft delivery programme at Appendix 

E. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation  

5.1 The FHSF will provide infrastructure improvements to help unlock the potential of the town 

and assist in supporting the economic recovery within Grantham Town Centre. The reason 

for the recommendation is to ensure Members are aware of the FHSF programme, its 

contents and any known implications arising.  

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The Draft Delivery Programme is set out in Appendix E. This is subject to review following 

review by the LCC delivery team and the results of the LCR feasibility study and resulting 

next steps.  

6.2 The Programme Manager will continue to work with potential development partner LCR 

and delivery partner LCC to progress the regeneration of the Station Approach area and 

delivery of the public realm projects.   

6.3 Expressions of Interest from the Upper Floor Grants will be assessed and progressed for 

Board decision, as will the recruitment of the Project Coordinator to support the grants 

process.   

6.4 In addition to working with the evolving Town Team, recruitment will commence for an 

Engagement Manager and an Action Plan needs to be developed for delivery.      

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The financial implications are set in the report and provide Members with information with 

respect to the overall project costs.  The original funding bid was approved by Council on 

16 July 2020.  Section 1.17 provides details of the funding profile for each financial year. 

7.2 There are conditions to the grants which will need to be adhered to in order to ensure that 

the funding levels are maintained. 

7.3 The currently budgeted revenue costs do not include funding for street greening, public 

art, seating, urban lighting or wayfinding; all of which have been deemed as high priorities 

within the consultation process. The Council could apply for external funding for these 

costs, but it is estimated that one-off match funding of £80,000 would be required. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer. 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The management case within the Future High Street bid set out the governance structures 

and management procedures involved in the delivery of the scheme. 

8.2 Key project decisions will be taken by the joint Future High Streets Fund/Heritage Action 

Zone Project Board comprising the Chief Executive (Senior Responsible Owner), project 

officers, Head of Economic Development, Director of Growth and Culture and SKDC 

Portfolio holders, including the Leader of South Kesteven District Council, Deputy Leader 

and Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy.  

8.3 DLUHC require progress reports including output and outcome reporting, financial updates 

(verified by the S151 Officer).  Officers are awaiting confirmation of the regular reporting 

35



 

 
 

schedule from DLUHC.  The first submission was made by the DLUHC deadlines, the next 

phase are scheduled to be completed by the 1st June 2022.   

8.4 A process for formally agreeing the Upper Floor Grants awards has been devised and 

agreed by the Joint FHSF/Heritage Action Zone Board in February 2022 and is attached 

as a workflow at Appendix F. 

8.5 Formal grant awards will be made by the Council’s Legal Team using documentation to be 

drafted by external legal consultants through the Legal Services Lincolnshire framework.  

8.6 Legal processes necessary to deliver the scheme will be referred to Legal Services 

Lincolnshire to seek specialist external support.  

Legal Implications reviewed by:  Graham Watts, Head of Democratic Services and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 In terms of programme delivery, the FHSF will provide equality of opportunity and no 

individual or groups are disadvantaged or discriminated against because of race, sex, 

disability, religion or belief, sexual orientation, gender reassignment, maternity and 

pregnancy, marriage or civil partnership, age, or social inequality. 

9.2 Formation of a Town Team for Grantham will be from a wide stakeholder background, 

ensuring that a representative voice will be heard to support future plans for the town. 

9.3 The design of the public realm improvements will consider use and accessibility issues to 

ensure that the proposed improvements enhance the visitor experience for all users of the 

town centre. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 The day-to-day administration of the FHSF is supported by the FHSF Programme Manager.  

Governance and management arrangements have been developed in line with SKDC 

criteria.   

10.2 The Risk Assessment identifies the risks and impacts across the programme and proposed 

mitigation. The Risk Assessment will be regularly reviewed by the FHSF Project Board and 

as part of the programme monitoring arrangements.  Risk assessments are reviewed on a 

regular basis by DLUHC. 

10.3 For each risk identified, mitigation and control measures have been identified to reduce the 

risk to an appropriate level and are being implemented. A copy of the Risk Assessment is 

available on request.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 In conjunction with the HAZ programme, the FHSF programme is intended to lead to 

Grantham becoming a more engaging and welcoming town.  An important element of the 

programme is the delivery of an improved gateway access from the railway station to the 

town centre. Additionally, the creation of a single level Market Place suitable for the provision 

of high-quality events intended to attract visitors, including during the evening, leading to 

greater footfall and wider engagement.  

11.2 New residential development in the Station Approach area and the conversion of disused 

upper floors in the town centre will provide additional residential space encouraging 

36



 

 
 

increased use of the town centre as well as encouraging the evolution of a town centre 

living/working community.     

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Whilst there are identified limitations the upper floor grants project is aiming for new units 

created to achieve an EPC C, but, which as a minimum, must include energy efficiency 

measures.  Encouraging reuse and repurposing of existing buildings within the town 

reduces the impact of embodied carbon within those structures. 

12.2 The redevelopment proposals of the strategic site and if deliverable, the wider LCR 

aspirations will replace older, less energy efficient buildings, with more energy efficient 

new homes and other commercial buildings. Development partners will be encouraged to 

make these as energy efficient as possible such as considering the use of highly efficient 

modular technology and if feasible, sustainable heating solutions as well as high quality 

greening.   

12.3 In terms of the public realm improvement projects the keys aims of this part of the 

programme is to encourage walking and cycling.  Street lighting and traffic signalling 

solutions can be designed with more energy efficient alternatives, wherever possible.  The 

public realm improvements afford possibilities for further greening of the town.  The FHSF 

is limited in that it cannot comprehensively deliver improvements referred to as 

“beautification”, which includes greening.  However, in conjunction with available funding, 

such as from the Woodland Trust, positive steps can be made to deliver green 

infrastructure.   

12.4 It is envisaged that the Town Team will provide a sounding board for new policy and 

strategy impacting upon Grantham and champion the town generally.  As part of this, it is 

anticipated that the team will encourage and support further measures to enhance carbon 

reduction such as working with LCC to explore increasing and improving cycle lanes and 

pedestrianisation as well as considering possibilities for further greening in the town.    

13 Background Papers 

13.1 Future High Streets Fund Bid. Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

14 Appendices 

14.1 Appendix A - Future High Streets Fund Programme Area (Exempt) 

14.2 Appendix B - Strategic Site (Exempt)  

14.3 Appendix C – Upper Floor Grant Scheme 

14.4 Appendix D – Programme Project Budget (Exempt) 

14.5 Appendix E – Draft FHSF Delivery Programme 1st April 2021 - 31st March 2024 (Exempt) 

14.6 Appendix F - FHSF and HAZ Grant Funding Decision Making Process 

 

37



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

39

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

41

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Future High Streets 
Fund - Grantham

Upper Floor Conversion  
Grants Guide

‘The Living Town’

43



2

Background
The Future High Streets Fund aims to renew 
and reshape town centres and high streets in a 
way that improves experience, drives growth and 
ensures future sustainability. In total, 72 places have 
shared £831 million from the Future High Streets 
Fund to help them recover from the pandemic by 
improving transport links, building new homes and 
transforming underused spaces. 

South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) has been 
awarded £5.56 million of Future High Streets 
funding to deliver an ambitious programme of 
infrastructure regeneration in Grantham, a well-
located market town with a high-quality historic 
urban environment and an established independent 
retail offer. Despite these geographic and urban 
environment advantages Grantham has suffered 
with a lack of popularity both internally and 
externally and consistently loses market share 
to competitor market towns and nearby cities. 
The Future High Streets Fund will be utilised to 
reenergise the town centre and set the foundations 
for the renaissance of Grantham, breathing new life 
into the town and establishing it as a first-choice 
location to visit, live and work. 

The four distinct elements of the  
programme are: 

1. Delivering a welcoming gateway link enabling 
ease of transit from the Railway Station to the 
town centre. 

2. The re-establishment of the Market Place as the 
beating heart of Grantham.

3. Creating re-development opportunities around 
the Station Approach zone, developing further 
town centre living space within an overall  
mixed-use environment.  

4. Re-establishing town centre living and 
reimagining vacant retail space through the 
conversion of underutilised upper floor retail and 
commercial space to high quality residential or 
other creative uses.

In order to support the delivery of programme area 
4, SKDC has established a grant scheme to enable 

owners of retail properties within the town centre to 
convert vacant and underutilised upper floor space 
into high-quality residential units.  

The grant scheme will address the economic waste 
of underutilised floorspace and support the creation 
of a vibrant, living, town centre which will generate 
consistent footfall and localised buyer markets.

Additionally, this grant programme will enable 
owners to capitalise on emerging new opportunities 
afforded by changes to work patterns, commuter 
behaviour and London based workers moving out to 
well-connected commuter towns such as Grantham.

Consideration will also be given to the conversion 
of upper floor space into another viable commercial 
or leisure use.  If your proposal is non-residential 
please contact the Programme Manager to discuss 
your concept prior to submission of an Expression 
of Interest.

The programme will enable property owners, who 
are key Grantham stakeholders, to support and 
participate in the early stages regeneration of the 
town and set the tone for future models of town 
centre living.

Grant Scheme  
Overview
The grants will be available to support the 
conversion of vacant upper floor space above 
commercial properties within the core retail heart 
of the town to provide new units of self-contained 
housing accommodation for rent. 

The grant scheme is geographically restricted, to 
be eligible properties must be located within the 
primary retail area, that is:

■ Westgate 
■ Market Place
■ High Street/St Peter’s Hill
■ Guildhall Street
 
The creation of new residential accommodation 

44



3

Upper Floor Grants Area

is the priority of the scheme, but, as stated above, 
consideration will be given to the conversion of 
upper floor space into another viable commercial  
or leisure use.  

The key aims of the scheme are:

1. To bring back into beneficial use under-utilised 
or vacant spaces, creating new residential, 
commercial or leisure spaces. 

2. To promote and deliver high quality living 
accommodation in Grantham.

3. To preserve and enhance the historic character 
of the town centre and its heritage buildings.

4. To enhance the energy efficiency of the 
converted units to meet climate change 
objectives and to maximise building energy 
performance efficiency.

InvestSK will manage the grants process, all grants 
will be made from the funding body which is SKDC.

45



4

Eligibility
You will be required to be the freehold owner of a 
building located within the specified zone of the 
scheme.  Joint applications from freeholders and 
leaseholders will be considered but a lead will need 
to be identified.  Individual leasehold owners with a 
fully repairing lease which has 10 years unexpired 
term remaining should contact the Programme 
Manager for a discussion on eligibility.  

Assessment Criteria
The scheme will support the cost of converting 
unused upper floors to residential accommodation 
(unless an applicant comes forward with a viable, 
high-quality alternative use which is approved in 
principle prior to submission of EOI).  

Assessment will be based on the extent to 
which the proposals meet the key assessment 
criteria: 

■ The converted accommodation will adhere 
as closely as possible to the current version 
of the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities (DLUHC) Technical Housing 
Standards – nationally described space standard.   

■ The grant will not support repair e.g. replacement 
gutters and downpipes, roof repairs etc, unless 
they are critical to the conversion – such as 
repair to a fire escape or are crucial to deliver 
sustainability measures as set out below.

■ The conversion includes sustainability measures 
to maximise the Energy Performance Certificate 
with the aim of achieving an EPC level of C 
or above. The delivery of energy performance 
measures should respect the character of the 
conservation area.

■ The project should ensure that all conditions and 
regulations with respect to historic buildings and 
preserving the historic environment are adhered to.

■ The work should create new or safeguard 
existing jobs.

The conversion of space to residential bedsit 
accommodation will not be eligible for grant funding. 

Preference will be given to proposals which 
fully meet the above criteria.  However, it is 
acknowledged that the nature of many of the eligible 
properties may present delivery challenges in doing 
so, particularly where buildings may have unusual 
floorplans and limited space, and /or the delivery 
of the assessment criteria in full would lead to 
the unacceptable loss of historic features in listed 
or historic properties or damage the character of 
the conservation area.  Applications which do not 
fully meet the above criteria will still be considered 
where accompanied by an explanation as to the 
delivery difficulties and how the applicant has used 
all reasonable endeavors to meet the assessment 
criteria.   
    

Grant Rates
The grant programme will provide 50% of the 
eligible costs of conversion, up to a maximum of 
£25,000 per unit created.  

The scheme has limited funding (£550,000) so at 
the maximum grant per unit a minimum of 22 new 
units within the town centre will be created. 
  

Support With Letting
Owners will be expected to make their property 
available to rent for a period of 5 years following the 
final payment of grant.  

SKDC can help landlords to find tenants utilising the 
Council’s housing register.  Additionally, landlords 
can be supported through use of the Council’s rent 
deposit scheme.  Further details of both of these 
schemes are available from the Council’s Housing 
Team on request.    

46



5

Links To Other  
Funding Streams
The Upper Floor Grant is available for the 
conversion of commercial properties to residential 
accommodation.  The scheme is potentially 
compatible with other funding streams, such as 
the High Street Heritage Action Zone Shopfront 
programme.   The schemes may run in parallel, 
however funding cannot overlap and therefore 
applicants should contact the Programme Manager 
before submitting an EOI if they are in receipt of, 
or have applied for, funding through an alternate 
programme. 

Whilst the Upper Floor Grant Scheme does not 
support property repair there may be opportunities 
for owners of historic buildings to consider a 
submission for separate funding through the 
Heritage Action Zone (HAZ).

The focus of the HAZ scheme is the repair and 
reinstatement of historic features to shopfronts, 
but can also cover repair works to roofs, windows, 
rainwater goods etc. where their repair is necessary 
for the preservation of the building.  To be eligible 
properties must have been constructed prior to 
1939.  The grant cannot fund purely cosmetic works 
(such as repainting) in isolation. 

If your proposal includes repairs to a historic 
building which would not otherwise be covered by 
the Upper Floor Grant Scheme, please contact 
the Heritage Action Zone Project Manager at the 
contact address below for an initial discussion.  

Publicity, Reporting 
and Case Studies
There are requirements for publicity of the 
programme and Applicants will be expected to 
support this.  The guidelines will be supplied to 
successful applicants and will need to be used in 
areas such as external hoardings and contractor/
consultant notices surrounding the sites as well 

as any publicity undertaken by applicants or their 
contractors/consultants to promote their work.  
 
Additionally, SKDC has to report back to 
Government on set outputs and outcomes for the 
programme.  From an applicant perspective this 
will largely focus on areas such as jobs created or 
preserved as a direct result of the grant award as 
well as the level of investment that the applicant 
is making into the property.  Applicants will be 
expected to provide requested information in a 
timely fashion but it is envisaged that this process 
should not be onerous.  

Finally, it is anticipated that the grant funding will 
generate examples of best practice, problem solving 
or more general good news stories which can 
be developed into case studies to be forwarded 
to Government and published online.  This will 
highlight the positive work that applicants and their 
contractors and consultants have undertaken and 
such case studies will be jointly prepared between 
the parties.           

Timeframes
The Future High Streets Fund is a time limited 
programme, ending in 2024.  All eligible works must 
be completed, invoiced and claimed prior to 16th 
February 2024.  It will not be possible for grant 
recipients to claim funding for any work completed 
after this date. 

The grants will be assessed by a two-stage process, 
an initial Expression of Interest (EOI) to be followed 
by a Full Application should the EOI demonstrate 
that the proposals meet the required eligibility 
standards.   

Expressions of Interest may be submitted at any 
time and decisions will be made on a rolling basis 
in a timely fashion. Feedback will be provided to all 
applicants. Should an EOI be rejected, applicants 
are welcome to re-submit their proposals following 
the receipt of feedback and making necessary 
amendments.  

If the EOI is approved applicants must submit a 

47



6

Full Application within 4 months.  These will be 
assessed upon receipt and decisions made in a 
timely fashion, again unsuccessful applicants will be 
provided with feedback and are free to revise and 
re-submit their full application for consideration.          

From the date of grant award projects must 
substantially start within 6 months and be completed 
within 12 months of the grant award date.

The latest timeframe for completion of project and 
payment of final account will be the 16/2/24.   

A worked example
Expression of Interest received   31/3/22
Project approved to Full Application  15/4/22
Latest date for receipt of Full Application  14/8/22
Grant Approved    30/8/22
Latest conversion work commencement date 28/2/23
Latest date for completion of work  29/8/23

Full Applications will continue to be processed until 
all of the funding is committed.  Once the funding 
is fully committed all in process applications will be 
placed upon a reserve list and prioritised in terms of 
individual project delivery timeframe.  Applicants will 
be kept updated as to the availability of funding and 
the status of their application.

Due to the deadline for funding spend the 
timeframes set out above will be strictly adhered to.

Projects which have been awarded funding but 
have not substantially started work by the 6-month 
commencement deadline will be reviewed. Unless 
very good reasons, supported by documentary 
evidence, are provided for the delay and a revised 
commencement timeframe is agreed then the 
Council reserves the right to revoke the funding 

offer and award the funding to an applicant on 
the reserve list.  If the revised commencement 
timeframe is missed, then the funding will be 
automatically withdrawn.       
   
Projects will only be deemed to have commenced 
when substantial work has been completed. For 
example, hanging a new door in isolation would be 
classed as minor, the installation of a new kitchen 
would be classed as substantial.  

 

48



7

The application process will comprise two parts, 
initial Expression of Interest followed by Full 
Application, this is set out below. 

Expressions of Interest
The initial Expression of Interest provides SKDC 
with an overview of the project for which grant 
funding is being sought. It is appreciated that not 
all of the information requested will be available 
in detail at this stage, but where possible best 
estimates of cost and deliverables should be 
provided.    

The EOI’s will be assessed by SKDC/InvestSK 
officers with recommendations for approval/refusal 
to be agreed by the Future High Streets Fund 
Board.      

The EOI document can be found at Appendix 4 
and is also available through the InvestSK website 
investsk.co.uk/future-high-streets-fund/ 

Full Application
If the property is approved to proceed from an initial 
Expression of Interest then the applicant will be 
notified by the Future High Streets Fund Programme 
Manager and a site visit will be arranged if one has 
not happened previously.  Work can commence on 
the Full Application which is a much more detailed 
document and applicants will need to include: 

■ Evidence of eligibility for the grant, including 
proof of ownership documents  

■ Full detail of the proposed works, including units 
created, unit sizes and bedrooms per unit  

■ Scale design drawings and photographs 
■ Evidence of relevant consents to undertake 

the work, including landlord consents, 
Planning Permission, Listed Building Consent, 
Conservation Area Consent etc.   

■ Accurate pricing including evidence of 
competitive quotations/tenders against the 
common schedule of works   

■ Extent of energy efficiency measures to be 
installed in the property and projected EPC 
improvement as a result of the works.

Eligible works are detailed in Appendix 2 and the 
Future High Streets Fund Programme Manager 
will be able to advise you on these as well as the 
application process.

Full Application – Supplemental 
Guidance  
Tendering/Quotations
As the grant scheme is financed with public money, 
the Council requires that a competitive process 
is followed for the appointment of architects, 
consultants and contractors. This will involve the 
applicant engaging appropriate professional advice 
at the outset.  If the grant application is approved 
these initial project costs can be claimed, planning 
and building regulation application fees are also 
grant-eligible.

The award limits are:
Direct Award (evidenced by written quotation)   
Up to £10,000
Three written quotations    
£10,000 - £49,999
Full Tender Process     
£50,000 and above

All procurement processes must comply with the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2015.

Professional Advisor Costs 

Professional advisors should be professionally 
qualified e.g. RIBA, RICS etc.  In the case of the 
conversion of Listed Buildings the professional 
should have relevant specialist conservation 
knowledge, ability or experience and should 
be a conservation-accredited architect (AABC 
Registered or RIBA conservation architect) or a 
RICS conservation-accredited building surveyor.  
Fees must demonstrate value for money through a 
quotation/tender process.

Appendix 1 - Application Process

49



8

Appointment of Contractors 
(Eligible Work Costs)
To ensure best value for the grants the costs of 
eligible works should be supported by tenders or 
quotations from contractors secured following a 
competitive process. Applicants will invite tenders 
from contractors known to be able to achieve 
the standards required and with demonstrable 
experience of working on similar projects, utilising 
Council procurement procedures.

The grant offer will be based on the most 
competitive tender. If you want to accept a tender 
other than the lowest, you must submit reasons why, 
within your application. If the Grant Administrators 
do not agree, any grant awarded will be reduced by 
a percentage, which reflects the difference between 
the lowest acceptable tender and the one you 
accept.

Historic Buildings
The streets for which the funding applies are located 
within the Grantham Conservation Area, containing 
a high proportion of Listed Buildings as well as other 
buildings of historic interest and local importance.   

In view of this applicants will need to demonstrate 
how the conversion treats the retention of historic 
features/ materials, particularly with regards 
to ensuring that retrofit for energy efficiency is 
appropriate and sympathetic to such features/
materials when implemented in historic buildings.  
This is particularly the case for buildings which are 
not Listed but are historic or traditional buildings of 
local importance. 

A key issue in Grantham is with the replacement of 
original windows with UPVC double glazing within 
the Conservation Area. Applicants should note that 
this grant programme will not fund the installation 
of UPVC double glazing as part of the conversion.  
For energy efficient improvements applicants 
should evaluate the use of secondary glazing or 
other window installations which preserve historic 
character and improve energy efficiency.   
Applicants are advised to look at the Historic 

England’s Energy Efficiency and Historic Buildings 
series of guidance notes and contacting the 
Council’s Conservation Officer before submitting an 
EOI. 

Subsidy Control
The UK must comply with the Trade and Co-
operation Agreement made between the UK and 
the European Union (TCA) in relation to financial 
assistance given to third parties. The TCA permits 
325,000 Special Drawing Rights (approx. £330,000) 
of financial assistance to be given to an organisation 
over a rolling 3 financial year period by any public 
body (not just South Kesteven District Council). 
If your organisation has have received more 
than this amount, please continue to submit your 
application as other options may be available. 
Please note that financial assistance given for 
COVID-19 does not count towards the £330,000.
A completed enclosed UK Subsidy Control 
Declaration form will need to be submitted with each 
application.

50



9

The Upper Floor Grant scheme will fund all works 
necessary to convert the internal accommodation 
from the existing commercial use to residential.  
Management costs, external works, repairs and 
structural stabilization are not allowable expenses, 
additionally, building services works, such as 
drainage, electricity, gas, or water are not normally 
eligible, except where it is essential to deliver the 
conversion. 

However, it is acknowledged that some external and 
building fabric works may be required to facilitate 
conversion or enhance space.  To draw a distinction, 
replacement or new guttering is not an allowable 
expense but repair of a balcony which facilitates 
external living accommodation would potentially be 
an allowable expense. Further examples are set 
below:

• Provide means of escape
• Provide light 
• Window/external door replacements - are not an 

allowable expense, unless this is a key factor 
in delivering improved energy performance.  
Applicants should note that where they are 
considering replacing windows/external doors 
in historic buildings, they must demonstrate 
they have used all reasonable endeavours to 
refurbish, enhance and retain.  Applicants are 
directed toward the Historic England specific 
guidance on improving the thermal performance 
of windows and doors 

• Installation of photovoltaic panels or other 
external measures which assist in improving 
energy performance noting that there are some 
restrictions on PV installation within conservation 
areas.

• Enabling works costs, such as scaffolding, 
hoardings, contractors’ facilities and vehicles 

• Fire safety improvements 
• Necessary demolition work 
• Removal/encapsulation of asbestos within a 

building.
• VAT where it cannot be recovered by the grant 

recipient
  

Professional and General Fees
Whilst not an exhaustive list, set out below are 
professional and general fees which would be 
eligible for the grant. 
 
• Preparation of a detailed specification and drawings 

for the conversion.
• Any necessary planning application costs, including 

Conservation Area and Listed Buildings consents 
• Fees to support the assessment of the buildings 

energy performance along with recommendations 
to achieve an EPC “C” rating  

• Surveys of the structure(s) or site and its condition 
• Research, analysis and archaeological 

investigation if the fabric of a historic building is 
likely to be affected 

• Getting competitive tenders and providing a tender 
report and arranging contract for the work

• Regular inspections and valuations of the work on 
site until it is completed 

• Full contact with the local authority on the technical 
details of both the application and the work for 
which a grant has been awarded. 

At Risk Costs
All costs incurred prior to receiving a written offer of 
grant has been made and accepted by the individual 
building owner are incurred at risk. This will most 
likely be professional and general fees.  

In terms of the conversion works, any work started 
without prior written consent and again prior to 
receiving a written offer of grant has been made 
and accepted by the individual building owner are 
incurred at risk.
 
It is key to note that conversion works will only be 
funded if the building is in otherwise good structural 
repair or will be repaired to an acceptable standard 
as part of a grant funding application. 
Eligible and non-eligible work can be undertaken 
at the same time, but costs must be identified 
separately and made explicit in the schedule of 
work. Where eligible and ineligible works are 
combined in a single project, a grant will be offered 
towards the cost of eligible work only. 

Appendix 2 - Eligible Costs

51



10

A grant agreement will need to be entered into 
with the Council, a copy of which will be sent with 
the Grant Offer Letter. There may be exceptional 
circumstances where the property is exempt from 
these conditions and will be agreed by the Council 
prior to grant approval. 

Set out below is a summary of the key conditions 
that apply to this grant scheme. 

a) Notwithstanding the fact that an application for 
grant is made correctly and in respect of an 
eligible building, SKDC shall not be under any 
obligation to make a grant and any decision to 
make a grant shall be entirely at the discretion of 
SKDC. 

b) The applicant must own the freehold of the 
property, or hold a repairing lease with an 
unexpired term of at least 10 years from the 
projected date of the final grant payment without 
a break clause. 

c) Applicants must be over 18 years of age.
 
d)  If the property or land is held on a lease for less 

than 10 years, is not a repairing lease, or if it 
contains a break clause that may terminate the 
lease within 10 years, the landlord must join in 
the grant application and agree to be bound by 
the grant conditions if a grant is awarded.

e) The terms of the grant will last for 5 years from 
the date of the payment of the final instalment of 
the grant. 

f) Grant offers will be withdrawn, or fully repayable, 
if the grant recipient breaches any of the terms 
of the offer as set out in this document, or if 
the grant recipient has behaved fraudulently 
or misleadingly in connection with its grant 
application or in carrying out and completing the 
works or activities. 

g) To protect the SKDC’s ability to reclaim the grant, 
it will register a restriction against the applicant’s 
interest in the property if registered at HM Land 

Registry or, if the property is unregistered, as a 
land charge and caution on the Land Charges 
Register (held by HM Land Registry). 

h) Permission for the works must be sought from 
every person with a freehold or leasehold interest 
in the property, and the applicant is responsible 
for obtaining these. 

i) Grant recipients will make available any financial 
records the SKDC reasonably requires in respect 
of the works. 

j)  SKDC Officers and their appointed agents shall 
have the right, at all reasonable hours, to inspect 
any work that has been approved for grant 
assistance during the time that the work is being 
carried out and after it has been completed for 
the grant condition period of 5 years.

k) VAT will only be paid if the grant recipient is 
not entitled to any refund on the VAT, and that 
if the grant recipient becomes entitled to a VAT 
refund they must pay the relevant amount to the 
Council. Grant recipients must certify that they 
are unable to recover any of the VAT payable. 

l) Grant recipients must fully insure the property 
or site for its full reinstatement value while the 
works are being carried out and following their 
completion. In the event of loss, theft or damage, 
the property or site must be made good.

m) Grant recipients must ensure that the property or 
site is maintained in good repair when the works 
have been completed throughout the grant period 
of 5 years from the date of the payment of the 
final instalment of the grant. 

n) Work must be started within six months from the 
date of the Grant Offer Letter, and concluded 
within 12 months, or by 16th February 2024, 
whichever is earlier. 

Appendix 3 - General Terms and Conditions

52



11

o) Applicants will be responsible for ensuring that 
necessary public liability insurance is in place, 
and that all work is undertaken in accordance 
with all relevant Health and Safety legislation. 

p) It is up to grant applicants to ensure their works 
meet all requirements in relation to Listed 
Building Consent, Planning, Building Control, and 
any other consents.  Grant payments will not be 
made until the written confirmation of all relevant 
consents to undertake the works is received.

q) In the case of historic buildings, all contractors 
will be expected to follow and reference Historic 
England technical guidance in the course of 
their work.  This information can be found on the 
Historic England website.

 
r) The applicant indemnifies South Kesteven District 

Council against all claims and losses incurred as 
a result of undertaking the grant funded works.

 
s) The owner must give a signed undertaking 

that the property will be available for rent for 
five years following the date of completion. No 
disposal, other than by letting, of the property  
for this period, is to be agreed.

t) If one or all the units is disposed within 5 years, 
and the disposal is not an ‘exempt’ disposal, the 
value of the grant must be repaid.

 
u)  A grant cannot be awarded to a property owned 

by an elected member of local government 
(defined as the Town Council, District Council 
or County Council), an employee of local 
government, a family member, co-habitee or 
business partner of a member or employee of 
local government, or corporate body with which 
the member or employee of the local government 
is associated, of which the local government 
authority is aware.

 
v)  Any outstanding issues of Planning Enforcement 

or unauthorised work to the property need to 
be resolved in writing to the satisfaction of the 
Council.

 
w) Any debts to the Council will need to be  

paid in full.

x) The applicant must notify the Council if they have 
applied or received offers for any other grants.

 
y) Grant payments will be made in arrears, following 

a site inspection by the appointed Council 
assessor to ensure project progress/completion. 
For a project under 3 months in duration the full 
grant will be paid at the end of the project. For 
projects greater than 3 months in duration then 
phased payments can be made, if requested, 
on a schedule to be agreed and subject to 
completion of works in accordance with the 
agreed schedule of works.

 

53



12

Upper Floor Grant Scheme
For help with filling in this form please read the Grant Guide and/or contact the Future High Streets Fund 
Programme Manager (details below).  

Appendix 4 - Expression of Interest

Name of property

Address of property
(include postcode)

Listed building status Grade II / Grade II* / Grade I / 
Local historic interest / no designation

1. Property where the work is to be carried out

Occupancy occupied / partially vacant / vacant

Existing use(s) of the  
property

Proposed use(s)

3. Current use of property

Name of applicant 

Type of applicant Landlord / Developer / Trading Company / Sole trader / Charitable 
Trust / Local Authority

Organisation role 

Organisation or company

Address of applicant
(include postcode)

Email address

Phone number

Legal interest in property
(please circle)

freehold / leasehold:
If leasehold state the year it will expire:

Date of acquiring  
property/lease

2. Applicant(s) details 

54



13

Brief description of the works – including energy efficiency elements (grants are only available 
for eligible works, a guide to eligible works is available in the Grant Guide).

Total indicative cost of the works (if available)
 £ Net    £ VAT    £ Gross

4. Proposed works

Projected site start date

Estimated delivery timeframe (weeks)

Number of units

Number of 1-bedroom units

Estimated 1-bedroom unit size (m²)

Number of 2-bedroom units

Estimated 2-bedroom unit size (m²)

Number of 3-bedroom units

Estimated 3-bedroom unit size (m²)

Current and Projected EPC

5. Proposed Scheme Delivery

6. Signature

This Expression of Interest does not constitute an application for a grant and does not commit the 
undersigned to making a grant application.  However, as it is an indication of your serious intent to make an 
application, a signature of the intended applicant is requested:

I intend to make an application for an Upper Floor Grant, subject to confirmation of the grant funding 
arrangements and conditions

Thank you for completing this form.  If successful, you will be invited to complete a full Grant  
Application Form.  Assistance will be provided throughout this process.

7. Contact FHSF@investsk.co.uk
Alex Ward
Future High Streets Fund Programme Manager InvestSK, St Peters Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ

This document is also available on the InvestSK website investsk.co.uk/future-high-streets-fund/

Name and position (print) Sign Date

55



Contact details
Alternative formats are available on request: 

audio, large print and Braille
 

Alex Ward
Future High Streets Fund Programme Manager

InvestSK, St Peters Hill, Grantham NG31 6PZ
*FHSF@investsk.co.uk 
8www.investsk.co.uk

03
50

9R
T_

3.
22

56



Document is Restricted

57

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

59

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix F - FHSF and HAZ Grant Funding Decision Making Process  
 

 

   
        

          
        
         
      

        
      
        

          
         
     

           

          
        
         
      

          
          

    

        

        
            
        

        
             

      
        

            
      

                                  
          

                                  
          

         

                                                  

              

61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Finance, Economic Development and 
Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  

3 May 2022 

Report of: Councillor Linda Wootten 

  Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Governance and Licensing  

         
  

 

Update on Local Authority Searches  

To provide the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with an update regarding Local Land Charges 
performance.  

 

Report Author 

Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) 

 
 (01476) 406224 

  graham.watts@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Melanie Jordan, Land Charges Coordinator 20 April 2022 

Approved by: Alan Robinson, Deputy Chief Executive and 
Monitoring Officer 

21 April 2022 

Signed off by: Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Governance and Licensing  

21 April 2022 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Notes the update regarding Local Authority searches. 

2. Considers whether any further monitoring or update reports are required. 

63

Agenda Item 8

mailto:graham.watts@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee considered a report at its meeting on 7 September 2021 which provided the 

Committee with an opportunity to monitor performance indicators relating to Local 

Authority searches. 

1.2 As reported at the meeting on 7 September 2021, at the end of April 2021 the average 

turnaround time for searches was an average of 22 days for a Full Official search and at 

its highest had reached 32 days mainly due to staff holidays and sickness. The Council’s 

turnaround target is ten days. 

1.3 Immediate measures were put in place when the service transferred to the Governance 

function of the Council in May 2021 under the Deputy Chief Executive’s Directorate to 

clear the backlog, with turnaround times having improved significantly. Details of the 

monthly average turnaround times for Full Official searches since the last meeting of this 

Committee are as follows: 

- September:  9 days 

- October:  3 days 

- November:  3 days 

- December:  5 days 

- January:  4 days 

- February:  6 days 

- March:  12 days 

1.4 The Team has worked incredibly hard to maintain an exceptional level of performance, in 

some cases showing significant overperformance, particularly during the period October – 

February. Peaks in the submission of applications and lack of resilience in the resourcing 

of the team to sufficiently cover periods of annual leave and other absences has led to a 

higher average turnaround rate for March. It is worth noting that the temporary additional 

resources that were allocated to the Local Land Charges Team ceased at the end of 

December 2021 and a budget bid was submitted as part of the Council’s budget for 

2022/23 to provide a more sustainable resource model for the team.  

1.5 Recruitment for one and a half fulltime equivalent vacant posts is now in the process of 

being undertaken which will provide much more capacity and resilience within the team, 

which currently consists of only two fulltime equivalent posts. This will have a significant 

impact on turnaround times and the general performance of the team. 

1.6 A review of the Council’s processes and systems via support from a neighbouring Local 

Authority has been undertaken which has identified improvements, particularly in respect 

of the utilisation of mapping software which is in the process of being updated and 

improved to ensure much better integration. 

1.7 Improvements to efficiency can also be achieved by updating the Total Land Charges 

system. Software updates are in the process of being costed and implemented. 

1.8 Alongside the Team’s day to day responsibilities, a significant and complex ongoing 

project is the migration of data to HM Land Registry which continues to be delivered in 

accordance with a prescribed timetable.  

64



 

 
 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 No further consultation has taken place on the content of this report.  

3 Financial Implications  

3.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.  The recent restructure 

identified the need for additional resource to be added to this service area which is being 

undertaken.   

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

4 Legal and Governance Implications  

4.1 There are no legal and governance implications arising from this report 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance 

and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

5 Risk and Mitigation 

5.1 Risks relate to the reputation of the Team and wider Council with regard to turnaround 

times. Additional resources allocated to the team, as accounted for in the Council’s budget 

for 2022/23, should ensure that the turnaround target of ten days can be maintained.  

6 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

6.1 Automation and good e-systems will reduce the usage of paper. 

 

 

 

65



This page is intentionally left blank



Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme 2021 - 2022 

 
Committee Membership: 9 

Chairman: Councillor Graham Jeal 

Vice Chairman: Councillor Gloria Johnson 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE ORIGINATED 
CORPORATE 

PRIORITY 

3 May 2022 

Future High Street 
Funding 

The Committee to be kept informed 
of progress. 
 
Lead Officer: Alex Ward 
 

To receive an update on 
progress with the Grantham 
Future High Street Fund 
programme. 
 

 Growth and the 
Economy 

Local Authority 
Search figures   

The Committee to be informed of 
the current figures. 
 
Lead Officer: Graham Watts 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

To provide the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 
with an update regarding 
Local Land Charges 
performance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Growth and the 
economy 67

A
genda Item

 9



 
 

REPORT TITLE ISSUE PURPOSE ORIGINATED 
CORPORATE 

PRIORITY 

 
Future Meetings 2022 

 
 
Housing Capital 
Expenditure/Stock 
Condition Survey 
 
 
 
 

 
For the Committee to receive a 
report on how Housing Capital 
Expenditure is project planned for 
future years. 
 
Lead Officer: 
Andrew Cotton 

  
Requested by Chairman 
for July meeting of the 
Committee. 

 
Housing that meets 
the needs of all 
residents 

Grantham Town 
Centre 

Continuation of Joint Scrutiny of 
Grantham Town Centre - 
Consideration of business 
occupancy rates in Grantham, and 
business survival rates, with 
additional consideration to post 
COVID-19 recovery and the 
changing face of the high street. 
 
Lead Officer: 
Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director of 
Growth and Culture) 
 

  
Requested by Chairman 
for meeting in early 
2023. 

Growth and the 
economy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

68



 
 

 
Unscheduled items 

Report title Issue Originated Corporate Priority 

Analysis of the Lessons 
learned and cost savings 
from the 15/18 months of 
the Pandemic 

For the Committee to receive a report that 
provides analysis of the lessons learned and the 
cost savings during the 15/18 months of the 
pandemic.  
 
Lead Officer: 
TBC 

 Growth and the 
economy 

IT Investment Road Map 
Plan 

Lead Officer: 
Gary Andrew (IT Manager) 
 

 A high performing 
Council 

 

The Committee’s Remit 
 

The remit of the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be to work alongside Cabinet 
Members to assist with the development of policy and to scrutinise decisions in respect of, but not limited to: 
 

• Business rate relief 

• Business transformation 

• Car parks, bus stations and town centre infrastructure 

• Charitable rate relief 

• Council-owned property, assets and maintenance (non-
council house) 

• Large-scale development projects 

• Shop front designs and funding 

• Street furniture 

• Street parking permits 

• Town centre developments and partnerships 

• Budget monitoring 

• Review of outturn 

• Fees and charges 

• Budget setting 

• Medium term financial planning and national funding 
proposals 

• Performance reporting 

• Data protection policy 

• Customer access strategy 

 

69



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Action notes from Joint Scrutiny - Deepings Leisure Centre held on 30 November 2021
	Minutes

	5 Action notes of the meeting held on 22 February 2022
	7 Grantham Future High Street Fund
	EXEMPT AppendixA
	EXEMPT AppendixB
	AppendixC
	EXEMPT AppendixD
	EXEMPT AppendixE
	AppendixF

	8 Local Authority Search Figures
	9 Work Programme 2021 - 2022

